A review of the literature

# The Impact of Social Protection on Children

Marco Sanfilippo, Chris de Neubourg, Bruno Martorano

Office of Research Working Paper

WP-2012-06 | June 2012



# **OFFICE OF RESEARCH WORKING PAPERS**

UNICEF Office of Research Working Papers are intended to disseminate initial research contributions within the programme of work, addressing social, economic and institutional aspects of the realization of the human rights of children.

The findings, interpretations and conclusions expressed in this paper are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the policies or views of UNICEF.

The text has not been edited to official publications standards and UNICEF accepts no responsibility for errors.

Extracts from this publication may be freely reproduced with due acknowledgement. Requests to utilize larger portions or the full publication should be addressed to the Communication Unit at <a href="mailto:florence@unicef.org">florence@unicef.org</a>.

For readers wishing to cite this document we suggest the following form:

Sanfilippo, M., C. de Neubourg and B. Martorano (2012), 'The Impact of Social Protection on Children: A review of the literature', *Working Paper 2012-06*, UNICEF Office of Research, Florence.

© 2012 United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF)

June 2012

ISSN: 1014-7837

## THE UNICEF OFFICE OF RESEARCH

In 1988 the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) established a research centre to support its advocacy for children worldwide and to identify and research current and future areas of UNICEF's work. The prime objectives of the Office of Research are to improve international understanding of issues relating to children's rights and to help facilitate full implementation of the Convention on the Rights of the Child in developing, middle-income and industrialized countries.

The Office aims to set out a comprehensive framework for research and knowledge within the organization, in support of its global programmes and policies. Through strengthening research partnerships with leading academic institutions and development networks in both the North and South, the Office seeks to leverage additional resources and influence in support of efforts towards policy reform in favour of children.

Publications produced by the Office are contributions to a global debate on children and child rights issues and include a wide range of opinions. For that reason, some publications may not necessarily reflect UNICEF policies or approaches on some topics. The views expressed are those of the authors and/or editors and are published in order to stimulate further dialogue on child rights.

The Office collaborates with its host institution in Florence, the Istituto degli Innocenti, in selected areas of work. Core funding is provided by the Government of Italy, while financial support for specific projects is also provided by other governments, international institutions and private sources, including UNICEF National Committees.

Extracts from this publication may be freely reproduced with due acknowledgement. Requests to translate the publication in its entirety should be addressed to: Communications Unit, florence@unicef.org.

For further information and to download or order this and other publications, please visit the website at <a href="https://www.unicef-irc.org">www.unicef-irc.org</a>.

# Correspondence should be addressed to:

UNICEF Office of Research - Innocenti Piazza SS. Annunziata, 12 50122 Florence, Italy Tel: (+39) 055 20 330

Fax: (+39) 055 2033 220 florence@unicef.org www.unicef-irc.org

## THE IMPACT OF SOCIAL PROTECTION ON CHILDREN: A REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

# Marco Sanfilippo, a Chris de Neubourg and Bruno Martorano

**Abstract.** Social protection is particularly important for children, in view of their higher levels of vulnerability compared to adults, and the role that social protection can play in ensuring adequate nutrition, access to and utilization of social services. While existing evidence shows that social protection programmes successfully address several dimensions of child well-being – often in an indirect way – a move towards a more "child sensitive" approach to social protection has recently been advocated at the highest level in the international development community. Until now, however, the efforts that have been made to analyse the evidence regarding how social protection affects children have been based on wider analyses of the overall impact of social protection on different groups of recipients, or on analyses based on specific outcomes. This paper explores this issue in more detail. Based on an extensive analysis of the existing evidence on the impact of social protection programmes in the developing world, the paper aims to assess what are the channels that have to be taken into account to understand how the benefits of social protection could be maximized with specific regard to the different dimensions of children's well-being.

**Keywords:** social protection, child-sensitive policies, evaluation, policy impact, education, health, nutrition, conditional cash transfers

**Acknowledgements:** We acknowledge with thanks the valuable contribution by Jan Oliver Suer, who has written boxes 1 and 6, and for his work on the social protection database. Jennifer Yablonsky, Natalia Rossi-Winter and Leonardo Menchini have provided useful comments on an earlier version of the paper. We would like to thank Sander den Boer, Ian Brand-Weiner, Marloes de Milliano, Ereblina Elezaj, Lucia Luzi, Lucian Mircescu and Ilze Playgo who have contributed to the collection of background material.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> Robert Schuman Centre for Advanced Studies, European University Institute

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> UNICEF Office of Research

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

1. Introduction	6	
2. Conceptualization of "Child-Sensitive" Social Protection: Where do we stand	7	
3. A Framework to Analyze the Impact of Social Protection on Children		
4. A Review of the Impact of Social Protection on Children	11	
4.1 Impact on economics and livelihoods	11	
4.2 Impact on education	16	
4.3 Impact on health	24	
4.4 Impact on nutrition	28	
5. Analysis	31	
6. Impact Studies and Policy Design	33	
References	35	

## 1. INTRODUCTION

Social protection is today widely seen as an important component of poverty reduction strategies and efforts to reduce vulnerability to economic, social, natural and other shocks and stresses.

The literature presents many definitions of social protection, ranging from finer approaches such as the World Bank's safety nets to broader remits which also take into account transformative approaches to people's lives. Generally, social protection is understood not only as 'protective' by, for instance, buffering a household's level of income and/or consumption, but also by providing a means of preventing households from resorting to negative coping strategies that are harmful to children (such as pulling them out of school), as well as a way of promoting household productivity, increasing household income and supporting children's development through investments in their schooling and health, which can help in breaking the intergenerational cycle of poverty and contribute to growth.

Social protection is therefore particularly important for children, in view of their higher levels of vulnerability compared to adults, and the role that social protection can play in ensuring adequate nutrition and access to and utilization of social services.

While existing evidence shows that social protection programmes successfully address several dimensions of child well-being – often in an indirect way – a move towards a more "child sensitive" approach to social protection has recently been advocated at the highest level in the international development community (UNICEF et al., 2009).

Until now, however, the efforts that have been made to analyze the evidence on how social protection affects children have been based on wider analyses of the overall impact of social protection on different groups of recipients (DFID, 2011; Fiszbein and Schady, 2009; ILO, 2010) or on analyses based on specific outcomes (see, for instance, Lagarde et al., 2007 on health, or Adato and Basset, 2009 on HIV/AIDS).

This paper explores this issue in more detail. Based on an extensive analysis of the existing evidence on the impact of social protection programmes in the developing world,<sup>1</sup> the paper aims to assess what are the channels that have to be taken into account to understand how the benefits of social protection could be maximized with specific regard to the different dimensions of children's well-being.

The paper is organized as follows. Section 2 reviews the current status of thinking on the role of social protection for children. Section 3 presents the framework, while section 4 reviews the literature on the impact of social protection on children according to various criteria. Section 5 analyses the material collected in order to propose a comprehensive approach to maximizing the impact of social protection on children. Section 6 concludes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This paper is part of a larger effort by UNICEF IRC to collect evidence on the impact of social protection on children which is available in a database to be published on the UNICEF IRC website in 2012.

# 2. CONCEPTUALIZATION OF "CHILD-SENSITIVE" SOCIAL PROTECTION: WHERE DO WE STAND?

The rights of children to social protection are clearly stated in the Convention on the Rights of the Child (CRC). According to the CRC children have the right to social security, including insurance,<sup>2</sup> and to an adequate standard of living, all of which are provided by social protection.

Indeed, there are several arguments for making social protection more focused on children. Through its main functions, which include protection, promotion and prevention, social protection can help to break the intergenerational transmission of poverty and contribute to growth (Dercon, 2011). Existing evidence shows quite clearly that investing in children is relevant in economic terms, given that the return on investment is usually high considering the well-being of both individuals and society as a whole (Asian Development Bank, 2001; Fajit, 2009; UNICEF et al., 2009; Roetten and Sabates-Wheeler, 2011).

In addition, as reported by the joint statement on child-sensitive social protection, children's experiences of poverty and vulnerability are "multidimensional and differ from those of adults" (UNICEF et al., 2009, p. 1). Besides such child-specific factors, Sabates-Wheeler et al. (2009) include also child-intensified vulnerabilities, which may affect the whole population, but have a stronger impact on children.<sup>3</sup> Among those, Roetten and Sabates-Wheeler (2011) include physical biological vulnerabilities; dependency related vulnerabilities and institutionalized disadvantage. Jones (2009) shows that child-specific sources of vulnerability are related to (a) their multi-dimensionality; (b) their changing pattern over the life-cycle; (c) the relationship with their caregivers; and, (d) their "voicelessness", a category including the lack of proper legislative frameworks to allow children to participate in society.

Despite such factors, a precise definition of "child-sensitive" social protection is not yet available. So far, traditional definitions of social protection do not make specific reference to children. An exception is the Asian Development Bank, whose definition includes child-protection among the policy responses to address poverty and vulnerability in the region (Kamerman and Gabel, 2006). Social protection has, in fact, a cross-sectoral nature and its activities may complement core elements of child protection, especially the preventive and protective functions (i.e. by addressing the underlying causes of violence or exploitation), therefore mutually reinforcing each other (Blank et al., 2010). Yates et al. (2010, p.210) report child-sensitive social protection as being focussed "specifically on addressing the patterns of children's poverty and vulnerability and recognizing the long term developmental benefits of investing in children." Sabates-Wheeler et al. (2009) as well as Blank et al. (2010) show that the traditional protective-preventive-promotive components of social protection serve for the purpose of adequately protecting children in the short run, while in the long run they emphasize the powerful role of the transformative component of social protection, which has the objective of addressing the "underlying structural causes of vulnerability."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Article 26 of the CRC: "States Parties shall recognize for every child the right to benefit from social security, including social insurance, and shall take the necessary measures to achieve the full realization of this right in accordance with their national law."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Thus, for instance, the economic shocks at the household level may increase the risk of child labour or child trafficking due to children being considered an asset, or could result in a lack of adequate food supply, which may generate long term consequences especially on children under 2 (Save the Children, 2007; Jones and Holmes, 2010).

More recent efforts in this direction have been made by UNICEF, whose new framework on social protection explicitly takes into account (a) children's rights to social protection; (b) child-sensitive social protection as a response to the multidimensional nature of children's poverty and vulnerability; (c) the high returns on investment in children; and (d) the emphasis on equity. As such, UNICEF (2011a, p. 6) describes social protection as a "...set of public and private policies and programmes aimed at preventing, reducing and eliminating the economic and social vulnerabilities to poverty and deprivation" by supporting the development of integrated systems addressing age and gender specific issues by means of a mix of different social protection interventions and in coordination with other sectoral policies. This definition takes into account four main components of social protection, including: (1) social transfers; (2) programmes to ensure access to services; (3) social support and care provision; and (4) legislation and policy reforms.

Besides such definitional aspects, several works have focused on what social protection should consist of in order to maximize its impact on children. UNICEF et al. (2009) established some key principles to make social protection "child-sensitive", including: avoid adverse impacts on children; address age specific vulnerabilities through a life-cycle approach; make specific provisions for children with specific vulnerabilities or belonging to specific groups; take into account the mechanisms of intra-household dynamics; promote a legislative framework to protect children.

Until now, most of the evidence available has been focused on the role of cash transfers, which have been considered one effective way to protect children (Yates et al., 2010; UNICEF et al, 2009). In addition, recent approaches have placed an emphasis on both the need to take the multi-dimensional nature of child poverty into account (such as in the case of Chile Solidario) (Barrientos and DeJong, 2006), and to adopt a more integrated approach using legislative instruments such as birth registration as a social protection measure to enhance the role of children in society (Blank et al., 2010; Sabates-Wheeler et al., 2009).

## 3. A FRAMEWORK TO ANALYZE THE IMPACT OF SOCIAL PROTECTION ON CHILDREN

This section represents a preliminary effort to systematically organize the evidence collected to build a database on the impact of social protection on children according to some well-defined methods. Apart from the focus on children, the originality of this initiative lies in the wealth of the material collected, and especially the coverage of all developing regions in the world.<sup>4</sup>

For the purpose of collecting the existing empirical evidence, we have chosen to adopt an approach that endorses a broad definition of social protection compared to that of UNICEF (2011a), mentioned in section 1. More specifically, we start with the two traditional functions of social protection: (a) social assistance; and (b) social insurance. Social assistance is by no means the most traditional function of social protection; it includes benefits provided to the most vulnerable in society and is financed by the public sector or by donors. Our database collects information over a range of different social assistance instruments – from cash or in kind transfers to social pensions, grants, school feeding or public works – with the primary objective of improving demand and access to services and which are also complemented by supply side interventions in an integrated approach to social protection. Social insurance, on the other hand, supports people against adverse circumstances and is usually financed through contributions, which in some cases are subsidized by the state. For the purposes of our database, social insurance includes, among others, family allowances, health insurance and contributory pensions.

In reviewing the large evidence base that has been collected for the database, we analyse either programmes that are focused on children because they are targeted directly on them or on households with children, and programmes that, though not directly focussed on children (e.g. pensions), impact on them through different mechanisms of transmission. Among the former group of programmes, most of those with the greatest potential to affect children are social assistance instruments that work on the demand side providing households with children the support to reduce child poverty and vulnerability while ensuring their access to social services. Social insurance instruments too, especially non-contributory, have a relevant role in protecting children against adverse shocks and events over their life-cycle. Some forms of social insurance, including allowances for families with children, are especially relevant in improving health and nutritional status during early childhood, providing a high return on investment in human capital (European Report on Development, 2010).

As mentioned above, there is a consistent body of evidence on the impact of social protection in middle and low income countries, focussing especially on cash transfers (Fiszbein and Schady, 2009; ILO, 2010; DFID, 2011; Hagen-Zanker et al., 2011). However, only part of this rich evidence is directly focused on children.

It is, of course, easier to provide evidence for certain channels of impact and for certain groups of beneficiaries. Compiling evidence on the impact of social protection on children has a more limited scope and some of the channels usually evaluated will not be taken into consideration for this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The developing regions included in the research are: sub-Saharan Africa; Latin America; South Asia; South-East Asia; Central and Eastern Europe; and the Commonwealth of Independent States.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> UNICEF's approach supports universalism as a way to minimize exclusion errors and increase equity in the provision of social protection.

analysis. Finally, it is important to state that the evidence presented in this review – which is based exclusively on quantitative analyses – is produced by adopting different methodological approaches, ranging from studies based on face-to-face interviews or focus groups with relevant stakeholders to more sophisticated econometric analyses. The latter approach lead to issues linked to the reliability of comparing findings based on simulations or on before-and-after analyses which often fail to capture the casual relationship between the programme and a given outcome with experimental approaches, such as randomized trials, which can give a more realistic estimation of the impact of a programme. Besides the intrinsic limitations of this kind of analysis, heterogeneity in the quality and extent of existing empirical methods makes comparison across similar instruments in different contexts, or over time, difficult, undermining the extent to which we can extract normative conclusions from this study.

In addition, we should be aware of the fact that the impact of social protection depends on a range of different factors, the role of which should not be neglected in such an analysis. In presenting the evidence in the following sections, short boxes describe representative case studies. These take into account some of the possible determinants of the impact of social protection, including the context in which the programmes are embedded and some of the key features of their implementation i.e. design, targeting and delivery mechanisms.

In order to organize the findings collected through the review of the existing literature, we adopt the same four broad categories that have been used to build the evidence database:<sup>6</sup>

- **Economics and livelihoods** including the impact on poverty and child labour;
- Education including school enrolment, school attendance and outcomes;
- Health including use of health services, HIV-related programmes and outcomes;
- **Nutrition** including food consumption and nutrition-specific outcomes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The selection of these four broad categories has been drawn from the social transfers evidence database published by EPRI (http://socialtransfersevidence.org/).

## 4. A REVIEW OF THE IMPACT OF SOCIAL PROTECTION ON CHILDREN

## 4.1 Impact on economics and livelihoods

## 4.1.1 Monetary poverty

Cash transfers targeted to households with children incorporate a variety of objectives and are provided in different forms, representing one of the best ways to lift children out of poverty while investing in their future (Barrientos and DeJong, 2006).

This is the case for instance of the system of social grants available to various vulnerable population groups in South Africa, which so far has provided relevant results in terms of poverty reduction (Woolard et al., 2010; European Report on Development, 2010). Among them the child support grant (described in Box 1 below) has demonstrated a strong potential to reduce child poverty thanks to the implementation of an effective targeting mechanism, which has been flexible enough to include a growing number of children when the impact of the recent crises made it necessary (Barrientos and DeJong, 2006; Barrientos and Nino-Zarazua, 2011).

# Box 1. Child Support Grants in South Africa 7

**Context:** By the mid-1990s in South Africa, 31 per cent of the population lived in absolute poverty. There are gender, spatial, age and racial dimensions of poverty. Many women, particularly single heads of households, are affected. In 1995 over half of all the poor children were living in female-headed households.

Implementation: Introduced in 1998 to replace the State Maintenance Grant, the South African government implemented the national Child Support Grant (CSG) with the objective of reducing poverty and vulnerability among children. The CSG was initially targeted to poor children up the age of seven, but has progressively been extended to poor children up to the age of 15. As a consequence of the financial crisis, the government of South Africa has further extended the age limit to 17. Children must be South African citizens and have per capita household incomes below a threshold. While the monthly earnings of single parents must be lower than R2400.00, married parents' combined earnings should be lower than R57,600 per year or R4,800 per month. Legally, the grant must be paid to the "primary care-giver", which is, in 98.5 per cent of the cases, a female in the household in which the child lives. The CSG reached 7.7 million poor children under 15 in 2008 (15.6 per cent of total population). Registrations for the CSG were still lagging in several provinces. 78 per cent of eligible households have registered in the Western Cape, a value that falls to 28 per cent in the Eastern Cape and 31 per cent in Limpopo. In 2009 the monthly grant amounts to R240, equivalent to approximately US\$21.

**Impact:** Woolard (2003) simulated the perfect implementation of the programme in 2003. She estimates that 5.1 million children (or 66 per cent of children under 7) should be eligible for the CSG. This contrasts with the figure of 1.9 million children who were de facto in receipt of the grant in 2003. Assuming that all those who are eligible (under the age of 7) register for the child grant, household poverty would fall to 28.9 per cent. Even more strikingly, poverty among children (under 7) falls from 42.7 per cent to 34.3 per cent and ultra-poverty from 13.1 per cent to 4.2 per cent. One of the reasons for the programme's success might be due to the value of the grant. Two-thirds of the income to the bottom quintile was provided via social assistance grants, with most of this income coming from child grants (the Child Support Grant, the Foster Care Grant and the Care Dependency Grant combined).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> This box is based on data and information from Woolard (2003), Dieden and Gustafsson (2003), Agüero et al. (2007), Woolard et al. (2010) and Barrientos and Nino-Zarazua (2011).

The efficiency of universal child grants seems in any case to be context specific. The Namibian system of social CTs, which has its roots in South Africa, has evolved quite differently given the different economic and social circumstances in these two countries resulting in a mix of eligibility criteria being applied. Levine et al. (2009) found inefficiencies in the means-testing for the child grants, leading to large errors of inclusion and exclusion and showing that the poorest children are less likely to receive grants than those who are not as poor.

Evidence on the impact of child focused social protection on monetary poverty is relevant when looking at Central and Eastern European countries, even if most of the analyses are based on ex-ante simulations. The need to protect children during the transition by means of social insurance instruments such as child and family targeted allowances (see table 1) has generally produced relevant results, even if the effectiveness of these programmes has often been undermined by the low values of benefits and by large inclusion and exclusion errors (Barrientos and DeJong, 2006).

**Table 1.** Impact of child allowances on poverty in Central and Eastern Europe

Country	Instrument	Targeting	Impact	Methodology	Source
Armenia	Birth grant; childcare benefit	Birth grant: means- tested. Childcare benefit: means-tested and categorical.	Absence of child benefits would increase the extreme poverty rate by 0.1 percentage points	Simulation	UNICEF (2008a)
Bosnia and Herzegovina	Child allowance in cash and in-kind for mother and child	Means-tested	In absence of child benefits, absolute and relative child poverty rates would increase by less than 1 percentage point	Simulation	UNICEF (2008b)
Bulgaria	Monthly allowances for children up to 18; One-time allowance for first graders; Childbirth grant; Monthly allowance for pre-school children (3-6 years) under homecare	Monthly allowances: income tested; Birth grant: universal	Population poverty incidence is estimated to increase by 1.9 percentage points in absence of child allowances	Simulation	World Bank (2009)
Moldova	Allowance for children aged 3-16; allowance for caring for children below age 3	Means-tested	Reduction of poverty among the first two quintile recipients by about 7 percentage points	n.a.	Moldovan Ministry of Labour (2009)

In Ukraine, child benefits for children under three and birth grants have contributed to a decrease in inequality by 1 per cent during the period 2001-2007 (UNICEF, IDSSNASU, 2010). Most importantly, they have achieved strong results in reducing poverty thanks to careful design which takes into account the context specific vulnerabilities affecting households with more than one child (see Box 2 below).

#### Box 2. Child allowances in Ukraine<sup>8</sup>

**Context:** The transition to independence has generated several economic problems, leading to insufficient funding for social services directed to children, whose situation has worsened until recently. Poverty rates in the country remained almost the same (at around 27 per cent) between 1999 and 2007. Within this context, data show that more than one third of households with children was considered poor, with poverty rates and the poverty gap systematically larger compared to the country's average. Large families were especially at risk, and the poverty rates for families with two or more children were 40.6 and 64.6 per cent respectively in 2007. Within this group, the poverty rate of families with children under 3 was over 39 per cent.

**Implementation:** The birth grant is a categorical transfer paid for each new child and its amount increases depending on the number of children already in the family. Part of the benefit is paid after birth and the rest during the following 36 months. The amount of the grant was substantially increased in 2005 and, as a consequence, the number of recipients grew rapidly reaching 90 per cent of the new-born in 2007. Linked to the birth grant is the receipt of a means test benefit awarded to the adult taking care of children under 3 years old based on certification of family income. The number of beneficiaries has increased primarily because the programme is processed together with the birth grant. Both measures are non-contributory social insurance.

**Impact:** Using simulations it has been estimated that without child allowances, the level of poverty in the country (measured using the living wage criterion) would have been 1.9 points greater, which increases to 3.5 points for the group of households with children. The good performance of child allowances in the country is explained by both their large contribution to the household income and the effectiveness of categorical targeting to include households with children, i.e. those facing the greatest risk of poverty in the country.

However, in the case of Central and Eastern European countries, the role of social protection which is not directly focused on children seems to have a strong impact on child poverty. Pensions in particular have an impact on child well-being since one or more of the family members are elderly. In Azerbaijan, 45.3 per cent reported living in households where at least one member received a pension, while the coverage rates of targeted social assistance (basically means-tested cash transfer for poor families) reached only 30.5 per cent of the population (World Bank, 2010). In Georgia, 42 per cent of households receive a social pension, and 45 per cent of all children live in households with at least one pension recipient (UNICEF Georgia, 2010). As a result, an estimated 9.2 per cent of children from households that receive pensions were lifted out of poverty. Simulations show that Georgian children living in households in extreme poverty would have doubled without pensions, and the percentage of children living in poor households according to the national poverty line would have increased from 28 to 38 per cent. In the case of Georgia, social pensions have a higher impact on poverty reduction for households with children than targeted social assistance. Similarly, in Armenia and the Kyrgyz Republic, if pensions were not included in household income, extreme child poverty would have increased by 8 and 19 percentage points respectively (UNICEF, 2008a).

 $<sup>^{8}</sup>$  This box was written using data and information from UNICEF IDSSNASU (2010) and ILO (2011).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The main drawback is that spending on pensions is also much higher than public spending on other social protection programmes. In Kyrgyzstan, for instance, expenditure is around 5 per cent of GDP, while spending on social assistance and child benefits reaches only 0.5 per cent of GDP. Serbia spent 11.4 per cent of its GDP on financing pensions in 2005, while social assistance spending amounted to only 2.6 per cent of GDP. The size of benefit is also a considerable factor. In Uzbekistan in 2005 child-care allowances contributed about 9.8 per cent of family incomes, social assistance allowances about 13.6 per cent, while pensions contributed about 30 per cent. Moreover, given that pensions are not targeted to the poor, in some cases they are regressive. In Uzbekistan, for instance, pensions are received by

#### 4.1.2 Child Labour

Child labour, as defined by the ILO Conventions, can result in negative consequences for children in terms of their health status, their education and the risk of further exploitation and abuse. 10

A positive side effect of many CCTs in Latin America is the reduction of child labour. Families receive income support which can be a substitute for the income forgone from child labour and children have less time to work due to school attendance. One of the first CCTs specifically designed to address the issue of child labour is PETI in Brazil (see Box 3 below), lately absorbed under the broad umbrella of *Bolsa Familia*, which provided incentives that enabled households to send their children to school for a substantial part of their time.

# Box 3. Programme to Eradicate Child Labour (PETI) in Brazil

**Context:** By the mid-1990s, the share of children aged 10-14 employed in Brazil was approximately 19 per cent, a figure that rose to 44 per cent in rural areas (SEDLAC (CEDLAS and The World Bank), 2010).

Implementation: The target population was represented by children aged 7-14 living in poor families with an income per capita below half of the minimum wage (roughly equal to R\$65/month) and involved in the worst forms of child labour (Fiszbein and Schady, 2009). The targeting process considered two different steps: first geographical targeting according to the incidence of child labour; second household targeting via a proxy means test. Thanks to this detailed methodology, the programme achieved a good targeting performance, given that approximately 66 per cent of benefits reached households in the poorest quintile (Fiszbein and Schady, 2009). The amount of the monthly cash transferred was different according to the recipients' area of origin, ranging from R\$25 in rural areas to R\$40 in urban areas for each child registered. According to a study by the World Bank (2001), this benefit level was appropriate given that it could overcome the opportunity cost of child work and that it took into account the different costs of living in rural and urban areas. The cash transfer was conditional on the promise that children attend school at least 80 per cent of the time and do not work. Furthermore, the programme involved children in after-school sessions (jornada ampliada) that increase the length of the school activities and reduce the time that children might otherwise spend at work.

Impact: Using a qualitative assessment in the areas of Pemambuco and Bahia, World Bank (2001) shows that the programme has been able to reach the poorer areas where some of the worst forms of child labour were occurring. An impact evaluation analysis shows that PETI has been successful in reducing the risk of child labour in the states of Bahia by 25 per cent, Pernambuco 5 per cent, and Sergipe 10 per cent (Yap et al., 2002). In addition, household levels of school attendance increased by 16 hours per week on average among children participating in the programme. Yap et al (2002) suggests that child labour has declined more sharply in Bahia because after-school sessions worked well. Despite the overall good impact of the programme, a survey of the programme's beneficiaries reported by the World Bank (2001) shows that a large number of families still considered child labour was not bad for children and was helpful for the household income.

Evidence from other CCTs is mixed. Employing a difference-in-difference estimator, Rojas and Aguilar (2008) show for instance that *Familias en Acción* in Colombia has proven successful in

members of 41 per cent of families, while only 11.6 per cent of families are covered by allowances for child care, 1.6 per cent receive social assistance, and 10.3 per cent receive maternal allowances (IMF, 2007).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> From http://www.unicef.org/protection/files/Child Labour.pdf

reducing child labour and the average working hours of children who continue to work. However, a different study of the same programme, adopting a similar estimator based on the propensity score matching for the selection of a control group, shows that children in urbanized rural areas reduce the hours of domestic work, but not the hours of income-generating work, suggesting that school-time is deducted from children's leisure time (Attanasio et al., 2010).

Literature suggests that CTs and – to a lesser extent – in-kind transfers, <sup>11</sup> can also reduce the incidence of child labour, though in some cases CTs have had the opposite effect.

The Jaringan Pengaman social scholarship programme in Indonesia provided (among other benefits) school grants to pupils at the time of the Asian financial crisis in the late 1990s in order to minimize increases in school dropout. As a consequence, child labour was reduced by 27 per cent on average (Sparrow, 2006). The effect becomes stronger as children grow older, since the incidence of child labour is higher among adolescents, and because the size of the scholarship increases with age.

Some evidence points to an increase in work demand on children in public works schemes due to a substitution effect for adults in households involved in the programme (Porter and Dornan, 2010). However, the work by Hoddinott et al. (2009), which compares the results of a group of beneficiaries with a control group selected through a matching estimator, found mixed results in the case of the Productive Safety Net Program (PSNP) in Ethiopia. The authors find that participation in the public works component of the programme contributes to a reduction in the average number of hours worked in agriculture for 6-16 year-old boys and for 11-16 year-old girls with a parallel reduction in domestic hours worked for younger boys (6-10). The strongest effects on child labour are achieved when the transfer to the head of household is higher, thus reducing the opportunity cost of sending children to work (Hoddinott et al., 2009). On the other hand, the same study shows a reduction of school attendance rates, and a rise in the number of hours worked within the household was found for 6-10 year-old girls (Hoddinott et al., 2009). Overall, considering the programme jointly with other transfers, the authors find no effects on child school attendance and substantial increases in hours worked by girls. Slightly different results are reported by Woldehanna (2009), whose empirical analysis based on the propensity score matching on the Young Lives survey data, shows that the public work component of PSNP had an overall positive impact on the total hours children spent working, reducing especially work within the household. Such results are consistent with those found by an evaluation of the National Rural Employment Guarantee Scheme in India, which shows that the registration of a household member in the programme reduces the likelihood of child labour for boys by 13.4 per cent and for girls by 8.2 per cent (Uppal, 2009).

Conversely, productivity oriented programmes, such as microcredit, have in same cases provoked an unintended negative impact on child labour. Islam and Choe (2009) show that even though micro credit programmes in Bangladesh are successful in alleviating poverty they do have a negative effect on school enrolment and child labour. Microcredit increases the probability of child labour for girls by 7.9 per cent to 13.7 per cent depending on the specification adopted. The probabilities rise to 8.4 per cent and 14.3 per cent when women are borrowers. The authors find that this is due to the fact

<sup>11</sup> A randomized evaluation of the Food Subsidy programme in Mozambique shows that as a consequence of food transfers children aged 5-9 reduced their work, while adults – and especially women – increased it (Veras Soares and Teixeira, 2010).

that children are taken out of school and start working on small household enterprises set up with microcredit funding (Islam and Choe, 2009). Similarly, a study by Hazarika and Sarangi (2005) in Malawi finds that household access to microcredit pushes children to undertake domestic work, especially in the season of peak labour demand. Unlike the Bangladesh study however, it is found that microcredit-stimulated work by children does not substitute for their school attendance, suggesting more child work leads to less leisure rather than to less schooling (Hazarika and Sarangi, 2005).

# 4.2 Impact on Education

Social protection can have an impact on education by addressing the underlying economic and social causes that prevent access to school, and by improving the quality of the services provided to young students and their families. A range of social protection instruments have the objective of improving children's education. School feeding in particular is one of the most frequently adopted interventions since such programmes are able to address multiple objectives at the same time (Buttenheim et al., 2011). However, its overall effectiveness is related to a range of factors, including the modality of provision, the targeting and the costs (Bundy et al., 2009). As a matter of principle, providing in kind transfers conditional on school enrolment and/or attendance decreases the net costs of schooling in order to make it more financially attractive for parents to send their children to school, thus affecting access and participation. Moreover, feeding programmes reduce short-term hunger, which could improve children's concentration and cognitive abilities, leading to better achievements and higher learning capability. Finally, as will be shown below, children's long-term nutritional status is improved, and malnutrition is reduced.

As for other instruments in general, receiving a cash transfer improves access to education. Receipt of a cash transfer can improve enrolment by helping poor households to overcome the cost barriers to schooling (fees, uniforms, books etc.). This effect can be seen both for transfers specifically focused on children and those which are not (e.g. when pension recipients distribute a portion of income to the household). Similar effects are recorded in the case of public works, whereby the wages of previously unemployed people can be invested in children's education. Over the last few years Latin America has become a pioneer in developing programmes to assist those children that are not reached by traditional programmes, using the conditions of CCTs to foster participation and access to education. Recent evidence suggests that CCT programmes for schooling are effective in raising school enrolment and attendance (Fizbein and Schady, 2009).

Overall, the evidence is still more limited and less conclusive in terms of whether transfers result in improvements in final educational outcomes (i.e. educational performance and skills acquired), although some recent work highlights the positive effects of social protection on children's cognitive capacities and social skills.

## 4.2.1 School enrolment

Evidence shows that, independently of the context, the impact of school feeding programmes on enrolment has been substantial. As shown in Table 2 below, most of the evidence available emerges from programmes that have been initiated and implemented with the assistance of the World Food Programme (WFP). Monitoring and evaluation is an integral component of such programmes.

**Table 2.** Impact of school feeding on school enrolment rates

Country	Implementation	Impact	Methodology	Source	
Bangladesh	WFP	15.2 per cent difference between the gross enrolment rates of schools in rural feeding programme areas and those in control areas	Difference-in- difference	Ahmed (2004)	
Burkina Faso	WFP	Girls' enrolment in rural areas increased by 5 and 6 per cent on site and take home ration, respectively	Randomized experiment	Kazianga et al. (2009)	
Ghana	Home grown	Increase in enrolment of 13 per cent for girls and 14 per cent for boys	Qualitative study	Devereux et al. (2010)	
Laos	WFP	No significant impact, except for take home rations in one of the districts, (+7 per cent)	Difference-in- difference	Buttenheim et al. (2011)	
Malawi	WFP	5 per cent increase in enrolment. Enrolment in one of the schools surveyed rose by 26 per cent in one month following the introduction of free school meals.	Qualitative study	Devereux and Macauslan (2006)	
Mali	Home grown	Enrolment in assisted schools increased by 23 per cent for girls and 17 per cent for boys, at a time when national enrolment rates increased by 8 per cent and 5 per cent	Qualitative study	Devereux et al. (2010)	

School feeding programmes can consist of on-site feeding and take-home rations. Often these two methods are used side-by-side on the same project, but they can also be used separately. In principle, take-home rations can have a larger impact on households' expenditures and therefore potentially work better in terms of targeting (Bundy et al., 2009). On-site feeding, on the other hand, can be less expensive and may result in a stronger impact in terms of cognitive capacities of recipients, but their targeting performance may be poor (Bundy et al., 2009). Evidence from Cambodia (see Box 4) seems to indicate that on-site feeding supports school enrolment of the youngest children, while take home rations have a stronger impact on attendance.

# Box 4. School Feeding in Cambodia<sup>12</sup>

**Context:** With 30 per cent of its population living below the poverty line, Cambodia is one of the poorest countries in south-east Asia. Education in the country is characterized by low quality and a weak system of infrastructure. Though at the start of the programme net enrolment rates were already high (around 90 per cent), there was great variation within the country and the high rates of enrolment lead to a loss in efficiency.

**Implementation:** The school feeding programme was launched in 2001 by WFP covering around 290 thousand beneficiaries that rose to 600 thousand in 2006. This figure dropped to an average of 400 thousand during the last 5 years due to financial constraints and the consequence of the food crisis. Targeting has changed over time, from national coverage to a selection of the most vulnerable areas of the country, coinciding with a WFP refocus of school feeding towards districts with lower levels of access to education, rather than to the most food insecure areas. School feeding in Cambodia is provided in different modalities including on-site for children aged 1-6 (45 per cent); take-home rations to children aged 4-6 (18 per cent) and for the rest in a combination of both. Beneficiary schools have been selected through a participatory approach at the local level, and the programme has an estimated cost per beneficiary of about USD48, which is cheaper than the average for this kind of programme.

**Impact:** School feeding has contributed to the recent increase in net enrolment in the country. It has been estimated that in schools promoting on-site feeding enrolment has increased by 2-2.5 per cent between 2002 and 2009, with a slightly greater impact recorded for girls (2.4-3 per cent). Schools that joined the programme after its start have increased enrolment by 6.1 percentage points more compared to schools that have not participated. Conversely, take-home rations are found to have contributed to an increase in school attendance by around 2.4-3.2 percentage points on a year-to-year basis.

Evidence on cash transfers is also growing. One-third of PSNP beneficiary households in Ethiopia enrolled their children in school and over 80 per cent of these beneficial impacts was said to be due to the programme (Devereux et al., 2006). In Zambia, the Kalomo Social Cash Transfer contributed to achieve interesting results in terms of school enrolment, with rates increasing by 3 per cent (GTZ, 2007). With respect to CCTs, in their review of the evidence Fizbein and Schady (2009: 129) report quite significantly that "(..) virtually every programme that has had a credible evaluation has found a positive effect on school enrolment". The impact differs however by age group of children whereas in middle income countries with high primary enrolment rates, the larger impact is often on secondary school (ILO, 2010). Indeed, *Oportunidades* in Mexico contributed to a 7 percentage point increase in the probability of school enrolment for children subject to monitoring in the programme, the effect being more evident during the transition to lower secondary school (Brauw and Hoddinott, 2008). Participation in *Bolsa Escola* – the predecessor of *Bolsa Familia* – increased school enrolment among poor children (10 to 15 years old) by about 60 per cent (Bourguignon et al., 2003).

Evidence also shows that significant improvements in enrolment rates are recorded when the transfer is targeted on women, especially in those contexts where gender is a relevant issue. For instance, Pakistan's conditional cash transfers for promoting female enrolment in school proved to have a positive effect on the enrolment of female students. A double differencing method finds that an additional 12 students per school were enrolled between 2003 and 2005, while a triple

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 12}$  This box is based on data and information from Nielsen et al. (2010).

differencing method leads to only 6 (Chaudhury and Parajuly, 2006). The impact on enrolment of Burkina Faso's 'Burkinabe Response to Improve Girl's Chances to Succeed' (BRIGHT) was in the order of 20 per cent (Levy et.al, 2009). The impacts for girls were about 5 per cent higher than the impacts for boys.

Lastly, the effects on school enrolment of programmes not targeted on children are mixed. Microcredit programmes in rural Bangladesh have proved to have a negative impact on the probability of school enrolment, with rates ranging from 19 to 22.6 per cent depending on the methodology adopted (Islam and Choe, 2009). More specifically, a greater impact is recorded on primary school aged girls, who are found to experience a 33 per cent decrease in school enrolment when credit is obtained by men and a 41 per cent decrease when the credit is obtained by women (Islam and Choe, 2009). This result is related to household characteristics, but it is indicative of the fact that small credit to the poorest does not seem to affect their decisions about children's education.

# 4.2.2 School attendance and drop-outs

Conditional cash transfers have contributed to a general increase in school attendance throughout Latin America. Table 3 summarizes some of the most significant results on this specific dimension of educational outcomes.

**Table 3.** Impact of CCTs on School Attendance

Country	Programme	Condition	Impact	Methodology	Source
Brazil	Bolsa Familia	least 85 per cent	absence (3.6 per cent), dropping out (1.6 per cent) and failing to advance in school (4 per	Matching and Difference-in- Differences	Veras Soares et al. (2008)
Brazil	PETI	School attendance of at least 80 per cent		Qualitative survey	World Bank (2001)
Colombia	Familias en Acción	school attendance in a 2-month cycle	, ,	Probit - Tobit models	Attanasio et al. (2010)
Costa Rica	Superemos	household between the ages	increase in the probability of attending school	Regression analysis and matching	Duryea and Morrison (2004)
Ecuador	Bono de Desarrolo Humano	school attendance	' 0 '	Randomized experiment	Edmonds and Schady (2008)
Jamaica	PATH	At least 85 per cent of school days for poor children aged 6 to 17	month.	Quasi experimental comparison	Levy and Ohls (2007)
Nicaragua	Red de la proteccion social	of 85 per cent for	The programme produced an increase in current attendance of 20 per cent for the target population.	Randomized experiment	Maluccio and Flores (2005)
Paraguay	Tekoporã Programme	minimum school	Among beneficiaries grade progression increased by 4 to 7 percentage points, due to children not dropping out.	Difference-in- Differences	Veras Soares, Ribas and Hirata (2008)

Another conditional transfer which proved effective in terms of school attendance is the Food for Education (FFE) programme in Bangladesh. Attendance rates within participating schools (70 per cent) were higher than in non-participating ones (58 per cent) (Reimers et al., 2006). Moreover, it has been estimated that an increase of 100 kg in the food ratio contributes to an increase in attendance rates of 17 and 16 percentage points for boys and girls respectively (Ravallion and Wodon, 2000).

Non conditional transfers also showed interesting results. Receipt of the child grant in South Africa is positively correlated with the beneficiary attending school, an increase estimated in the range of 25 per cent (Samson et al., 2004 using micro-simulation) to 50 per cent (Williams, 2007 using a regression model). The grant's effects are most positive if women are the recipients (Santana, 2008).

Fee abolition and scholarship programmes have of course an important role in keeping children in school. The Hunger Eradication and Poverty Reduction Programme (HEPR) in Vietnam contains a sub-programme that allows parents to be exempted from paying tuition fees for their children's schooling and indeed the schooling rate among beneficiaries was 11 points higher (81 per cent) compared to that of non-beneficiaries (Cuong, 2003). The Jaringan Pengaman Social scholarship programme in Indonesia, which provided (among other benefits) school grants to pupils at the time of the Asian financial crisis, lowered by 3.5 percentage points the probability of dropping out by secondary students who received the scholarship compared to others (Cameron, 2002).

Finally, it is worth highlighting that a particular programme such as the non-formal education scheme in Bangladesh has contributed significantly to raising participation and avoiding drop-outs from school by complementing public education services in rural areas (see Box 5).

## Box 5. Non formal education programmes in Bangladesh

**Context:** The rate of enrolment in primary education in Bangladesh during the mid-1980s was quite low (54 per cent) mainly due to supply shortage, especially in rural areas (World Bank, 2011). Government policies to support access were focussed on the promotion of private community schools attracting large amounts of students by offering food rations and feeding programmes in exchange. Within this context, the quality of government institutions decreased. Non-formal primary education has been introduced with the aim of providing primary educational services for children outside formal institutions in rural areas of the country.

**Implementation:** BRAC is a three-year programme for children aged 8–10 years from poor households. There are no large differences to the formal school curriculum while classes are composed of about 30 pupils (almost half respect to formal schools). At the beginning, 22 experimental non-formal primary education centres were established. Nowadays, the programme provides an educational service employing one teacher for 25 to 33 students (for a total of 4,091 contact hours) (Chaboux, 2006). In 2009, BRAC provided educational services to 53,436 children with an attendance rate of 95 per cent (girls accounting for 60–65 per cent of all students) (BRAC, 2009).

**Impact:** There are few studies that have tried to evaluate the programme impact on enrolment and learning outcomes. Nath et al (1999) showed that students enrolled in the programme were almost 3 times more likely to have basic education than students enrolled in the formal system. Hossain et al. (2002) report that it has contributed significantly to increase participation and to avoid drop-outs from school. However, they also report that only 63 per cent of children attending non-formal schools were likely to continue their education compared to 71.1 per cent of those from formal institutions. In addition, the programme has been found to increase enrolment of girls (Sukontamarn, 2006). In terms of school outcomes, there are mixed results. Hossain et al. (2002) argue that the performance of students enrolled in BRAC schools is lower compared to that of government schools. Conversely, Nath et al (1999) shows that students enrolled in the programme have the same performance in reading and numeracy compared to that of government schools, but their performance is good in other areas, such as life skills and writing.

Among interventions not directly focused on children, there is increasing evidence that social pensions in Southern Africa have benefited participation in school, given that a large part of older people's spending on grandchildren is directed to education. In South Africa, a reduction of about 20-25 per cent in school non-attendance has been recorded by household recipients of social pensions (Samson et al., 2004). In Namibia, interviews with a final year class in the high school

demonstrated that participation of 14 out of 16 students was solely due to their grandparents receiving a pension (Devereux, 2001). To remain in Namibia, a large number of recipients of the basic income grant used the money to pay school fees. As a consequence, a decrease of 42 per cent in non-attendance due to financial reasons has been recorded and drop-out rates have fallen from 40 per cent before to almost 0 a year after the launch of the pilot programme.<sup>13</sup>

# 4.2.3 Learning, social skills and quality of school services

The previous sections have shown quite clearly that social protection has a remarkable impact in terms of fostering participation in school, especially when there is an incentive to do so. Although enrolment and attendance are relevant achievements per se, the previous results say little about the consequences on children's social and cognitive capacities. This is certainly due to the difficulties of discerning a causal relation between a single intervention and an outcome which may be influenced by a number of other (often difficult to measure) factors, ranging from the quality of the education provided, to the socio-economic characteristics of the recipients.

This notwithstanding, there is some evidence which highlights the – often positive – impact that social protection interventions have on the cognitive capacities and their social attitudes while attending school as well as on the overall quality of school services.

Early Childhood Development (ECD) programmes, providing a range of services including feeding, education and health, play an important role in this matter. In Chile *Crece Contigo* has a proven positive impact on language, and the cognitive development of children older than 2 years living in rural areas (Ministerio de Educación, 2007), though these differences are likely to disappear at the secondary level (Ministerio de Educación, 1998). ECD programmes in the Philippines have also positively contributed to participating children's cognitive, language and socio-emotional skills in addition to the other beneficiary impacts (Armecin et al., 2006).

Among the other programmes, school feeding, which influences the time spent in school as well as the nutritional status of children, is likely to increase their concentration and cognitive capacities. Indeed, there is evidence highlighting this from different contexts in the developing world. Participation in the school feeding programme in Bangladesh has contributed to an increase of 15.7 percentage points in test scores, especially in mathematics (Ahmed, 2004). A relatively lower impact (about 4 per cent) on test scores for children aged 37-58 months has been found for participants to the preschool programme PIDI in Bolivia which focuses on children living in poor families, the results being found to depend largely on the length of exposure to the benefits of the programme (Behrman et al., 2004). An increase in test scores has also been recorded for participants in school feeding programmes in the Philippines (Tan et al., 1999) and in Kenya (WFP, 2010). In Peru, Programmea de Desayunos Escolares had no impact on their performance in school, but reported improvements in the short-term memory of the children benefiting (Cueto and Chinen, 2000), while in Jamaica the school feeding programme helped to improve children's verbal fluency (Chandler et al., 1995).

22

 $<sup>^{13}</sup>$  Information retrieved from the BIG coalition homepage:  $\underline{\text{http://www.bignam.org/BIG}}$  pilot.html

Overall, complementing programmes that foster access and participation in school with interventions on the supply side, including the provision of basic infrastructures and complementary services, can contribute to increasing their capacities. A case in point is that of the Burkinabe Response to Improve Girls Chance to succeed (BRIGHT) in Burkina Faso, whose independent evaluation has proven relevant results for the three years following its implementation (see Box 6 below).

## Box 6. Burkinabe Response to Improve Girls cHanceTo succeed (BRIGHT) in Burkina Faso

Context: Despite some improvements, primary school enrolment rates in Burkina Faso were remarkably low before the implementation of the programme in 2005. Only 56 per cent of school aged children were enrolled in school, this figure reducing to 50 per cent for girls. Moreover, only 8.1 per cent of girls aged 15 and above were literate in 2005, compared to 18.5 per cent of boys. In order to improve this situation and to increase equity in access to schooling, in 2005 the Millennium Challenge Corporation (MCC) funded a programme to increase girls' educational attainment in Burkina Faso through the construction of schools and provision of complementary interventions.

**Implementation:** The programme was implemented from 2005 to 2008 in the 10 provinces of the country recording the lowest girls' primary completion rates. In total, 132 primary schools were built with a similar scheme including the provision of three classrooms, housing for three teachers and separate latrines for boys and girls. The complementary services consisted of the provision of school canteens to supply meals for all students; take-home rations targeted to girls with at least 90 per cent attendance rates; textbooks and other stationery to all students. In addition, the programme provided so-called soft components, including a mobilization campaign supporting girls' enrolment into school, literacy training for adults, and capacity building among local partners. The \$12.9 million grant was financed by the Millennium Challenge Corporation and implemented by a consortium of NGOs (Plan International, Catholic Relief Services, Tin Tua, and the Forum for African Women Educationalists) under the supervision of USAID. In 2009, continuation of the project under the name BRIGHT II was approved for an additional 3 years covering almost 29,000 young students in 2011. Apart from the maintenance of on-going services, it includes the construction of additional classrooms for grades 4 to 6. The school feeding element will be continued with daily meals during all nine months of the school year for an estimated 13,000 children.

**Impact:** The impact evaluation study has been conducted by Mathematica (Levy et al., 2009) based on a regression discontinuity technique comparing the 139 communities selected for the programme with those who have applied but have not been selected. Results show that the impact of BRIGHT on school enrolment has been around 20 per cent, with better results on average for girls. The study also finds that beneficiary children have significantly improved their scores in mathematics and French by about 0.4 standard deviations. Provided that the quality of teachers is similar all over the country, the authors claim that the impact on test scores could be due to the supply of a better learning environment in BRIGHT schools (Levy et al., 2009).

A Colombian programme (Escuela Ciudad Escuela) that provides funding to extra-curricular activities managed to improve the school environment by reducing violence and improving the social skills of pupils and their general knowledge (Perèz-Calle, 2007).

23

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Information retrieved from <a href="http://www.brightnews.org/Donnees2011.pdf">http://www.brightnews.org/Donnees2011.pdf</a>

Opposing results were yielded by a Government programme in Kenya providing textbooks to randomly selected primary schools in rural areas. A randomized evaluation of the programme shows that it has proven ineffective in terms of students' achievements due to poor capacity in targeting the weaker students in schools, though this might be affected by the way the treatment group is selected (Glewwe et al., 2007). Besides the positive impact on enrolment and attendance, the Food for Education (FFE) programme in Bangladesh has resulted in negative impacts in terms of quality of outcomes. The average test scores among fourth graders are lower (49.3 per cent of the total score) in participating than in non-participating schools (53 per cent), and are even higher for non-FFE students in treated schools (Ahmed and Del Ninno, 2002). Additionally, the student/teacher ratio was lower in FFE schools (on average 76 students per teacher against 62 in non-FFE schools), even if this cannot be taken as an explanation of the former finding given that not all the students are benefiting from the programme.

## 4.3 Impact on Health

As in the case of education, existing evidence shows a more conclusive nexus between social protection and outputs including access to and utilization of health services, this being especially true for preventive services for children (DFID, 2011). Less straightforward, though substantial, is the evidence on the impact of social protection on the health status of children, given that other factors than social protection may influence such outcomes.

# 4.3.1 Access, utilization and prevention

Social protection programmes can facilitate access to health services for the poor.

Cash transfers are often used to overcome the financial barriers that prevent households accessing healthcare for their children. Evidence shows for instance that in some African countries unconditional cash transfers have contributed to an increase in utilization of health services, such as in the case of the Mchinji transfer in Malawi (Yablonski and O'Donnell, 2009). Evidence on access and utilization of healthcare is however richer in the case of CCTs (see Lagarde et al., 2007 for a review). Conditions attached to CCTs force poor people to use health services with regularity, such as in the case of *Bolsa Familia* in Brazil or *Familia in Acción* in Colombia. While conditions imposed on the receipt of a transfer will have an effect, making people aware of the need to regularly use health services is also of outstanding importance. However, evidence collected by Fiszbein and Schady (2009) shows that only some preventive services, including regular check-ups for children, are more likely to be affected by CCTs compared to others (e.g. immunization). A successful example is that of *Chile Solidario* (see box 7), where households receive psycho-social support emphasizing the importance of health access for the physical and cognitive development of their children.

## **Box 7. Chile Solidario**

**Context:** An evaluation of the poverty reduction programmes in the country in the 1990s lead to the conclusion that in many cases such policies failed to reach the poorest, who were often excluded from accessing social services.

**Implementation:** The programme considers poverty as a multidimensional experience. Families accepted for *Chile Solidario* work initially with a social worker in order to assess their conditions (grouped in seven main domains) and to agree upon an action plan including specific measures to escape poverty, which formally become the "conditionality" of the programme.

**Impact:** Children within participating households are more likely to be enrolled in the public health system compared to non-beneficiaries. The difference is around 12 percentage points and is statistically significant when considering both groups of children under 15 and under 18 years old (Martorano and Sanfilippo, 2012). In addition, greater recourse to preventive visits for children under the age of 6 has been recorded (Galasso, 2006).

More specific interventions designed to protect children have proven successful in increasing access to healthcare.

The voluntary component of the health insurance system in Viet Nam is specifically focused on school children, individuals eligible for humanitarian assistance and other adults. Most of the beneficiaries (about 95 per cent), however, are children, given that schools are encouraged to put pressure on pupils' parents to obtain health insurance for them. The impact analysis found that members of the health insurance system were more likely to seek treatment in health facilities rather than to self-treat (Jowett, 2001).

The Community-Based Early Childhood Development Project implemented in Kyrgyzstan for children up to 8 years of age in the poorest mountainous areas has contributed to an increase in health workers' house visits to young children (Asian Development Bank, 2010). And the Early Intervention Programme of Belarus is one of the best practices for children with special needs in the CEE/CIS region. Due to this programme, access for children with special needs to quality early intervention health services has increased. Between 2003 and 2008 the programme produced a 20 per cent increase in the number of children under 8 years benefiting from appropriate care and feeding practices for their survival, growth and development, including early identification of children with special needs (UNICEF, 2011b).

In addition, programmes not directly focused on children have an important role in fostering poor households to increase their pupils' access to health services.

The Health Card system in Indonesia was designed to provide poor households with access to healthcare during the economic crisis experienced by the country at the end of the 1990s. The utilization rate of children from households possessing health cards was larger than that of children who did not have one; as pre-treatment levels were quite similar among the two groups, the difference probably resulted from possession of a health card (Johar, 2007). Similar results emerged from an analysis which was based on a different sample, but adopted the same methodology

(propensity score matching), indicating that younger children (0-5) benefited the most from the subsidy (Somanathan, 2008).

Finally, an evaluation of the Khushhali Bank microcredit scheme in Pakistan shows that participation in the programme improves the likelihood that the children of beneficiary households will be vaccinated and will receive treatment by well-trained medical staff (Montgomery, 2005). According to the author, this shows a preference by the poorest households to invest money to increase the quality of healthcare, especially for their children.

#### 4.3.2 Health outcomes

Evidence on the impact of social protection on health outcomes is more difficult to collect given that other factors, often more difficult to measure, are likely to affect children's health status. Nonetheless, some studies have highlighted the fact that there seems to be a nexus between the receipt of certain benefits and an improvement in health status.

The Integrated Child Development Services (ICDS) programme in India which - besides providing supplementary feeding - also aims to implement specific health interventions such as de-worming and vitamin A supplements, has proven effective only in the region of Maharashtra (Gragnolati et al., 2005).

In Malawi, an evaluation of the Mchinji unconditional social transfer programme has shown that over the period 2007/08 a large share (around 80 per cent) of children in beneficiary households have improved their health and referred to health care when sick (against respectively 15 and 8 per cent of non-treated) (Miller et al., 2008). In addition, children within the programme experienced a strong reduction (23.4 per cent) in reported illness, with a significant difference of about 11 per cent compared to non-participants. Insights from face-to-face interviews with programme participants show that these improvements are mainly due to the income effect arising from the transfer, which allows households to buy medication for their children, to send them to health care services when sick, and to feed them more regularly (Miller et al., 2008).

Evidence is also particularly rich from evaluations of CCTs in various Latin American countries. Results from a randomized experiment show that for children up to 36 months old benefitting from *Progresa* in Mexico, illness rates were over 20 percentage points lower than non-participants (25.3 for children aged 0-24 months and 22.3 for 0-36) (Gertler, 2004). A decrease in the risk of illness has been reported by Huerta (2006) for children aged between 24 and 59 months participating to the same programme. Nonetheless, it is difficult to understand which of the programme's main components - the monetary transfer, the nutritional supplement or the health education meetings - produces these impacts, as all could contribute to one or more outcomes (Lagarde et al., 2007). According to a report published by SEDESOL (2010), for instance, the main determinants of improved health outcomes for *Progresa's* recipients are due to regular preventive medical visits and communal educative self-care workshops.

In Colombia, the programme *Familias en Acción* has been found to contribute to a reduction of diarrhea symptoms for children under 4 years old (Lagarde et al, 2007). Results are however different in the cases of Nicaragua and Brazil. In the former case, the programme *Red de Proteccion Social* had no effect on anemia prevalence among infants (Lagarde et al, 2007), while in Brazil, Rivera

Castiñeira et al (2009) underline the lack of positive results for either health status or modification of unhealthy habits. This result is confirmed by other studies, which conclude that the main problem is related to a lack of supply side services which limits the effectiveness of the programme (Veras Soares et al., 2007).

Finally, there is also evidence for the effects of social protection on the mental health and psychological conditions of children. For instance, an improvement in scores on a depression scale has been found in a study by Hofmann et al. (2008) for children in households benefitting from the *KwaWazee* pension in Tanzania, and may be due to their awareness of increased household income from the pension.

Evidence from Latin America is less conclusive, but shows that care centres (*Centros de Atención Integral a la Famila*) in Uruguay have contributed to improvement of the psychomotor development of children who participated (Amarante et al., 2005) and that the pre-school programme PIDI in Bolivia improved children's physical development (Behrman et al., 2004).

#### 4.3.3 HIV

HIV-sensitive social protection can contribute to reducing vulnerability to HIV, while also reducing barriers to HIV treatment, prevention, protection and support.<sup>15</sup>

Up to now, however, little evidence is available on the impact of social protection on the reduction of HIV prevalence among children or on preventive measures.

The Early Intervention Programme of Belarus provides allowances to 100 per cent of families with HIV infected children in need, while 50 per cent of families with HIV infected women and children has access to comprehensive community-based care and support in the five locations most affected by HIV (UNICEF, 2011b).

Suggested interventions in an HIV affected context are not meant to be AIDS exclusive, but should be longer term and AIDS sensitive (Yates et al., 2010). Unconditional cash transfers, now widely diffused in the most affected countries of sub-Saharan Africa are good examples given their potential to affect the underlying causes of HIV diffusion among young children. Indeed, a study by UNICEF (2007) on three cash transfers (*Kalomo* in Zambia; *Mchinji* in Malawi; and the social cash transfers in South Africa) show that the potential of such programmes is higher in contexts where most (around 70 per cent) of their targeted households (and the children within them) are affected by HIV/AIDS.

A successful example of reducing the risk of contracting HIV is the Zomba Cash Transfer in Malawi, which has provided important preliminary results in a context such as sub-Saharan Africa where the risk of HIV infection is high among young women (see box 8).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Source: http://www.unicef.gr/pdfs/UNICEF Taking Evidence to Impact.pdf

## **Box 8. Zomba Conditional Cash Transfer in Malawi**

**Context:** Malawi is one of the poorest countries within Sub-Saharan Africa and one of the countries with the highest rates of HIV prevalence in the world. Before the introduction of the programme, 14 per cent of the adult population was affected by HIV, with the highest shares (up to four times higher) for young (15-24 year-old) females compared to males.

**Implementation:** From 2008 to 2009, the World Bank funded and implemented a randomized conditional cash transfer intervention targeting young women in Zomba, a region in southern Malawi. The programme provided incentives to girls and young women either to stay in education or to return to school if recently dropped out. The average offer to the households consisted of USD 10 per month, a figure representing about 15 per cent of total monthly household consumption. A consistent amount of the transfer is directed to the student's guardian, while a smaller part (around 30 per cent) goes directly to the schoolgirl. For secondary students, school fees are paid directly to the schools upon successful fulfilment of the enrolment. The only condition applied to the transfer is that students must attend school for at least 80 per cent of the time. The cash delivery is provided in locations that are easy to reach, so that no recipient has to travel for more than 5 km to the cash payment point.

**Impact:** The evaluation by Baird et al. (2009) investigates the first-year impact of this CCT only on female school attendance, as the rate of infection among males is much lower, making the programme impact difficult to detect. From a sample of 3,805, a total of 1,230 randomly selected young women received the benefit, while the remaining constituted the control group. The results show that the programme led to large increases in school enrolment, especially among those not present at school at the baseline (17.2 per cent among the control group, 61.4 per cent among the treatment group). In the control group 27.7 per cent of initial dropouts got married during the preceding year, compared with only 16.4 per cent in the treatment group, a reduction in the marriage rate of more than 40 per cent among baseline dropouts. The treatment group dropouts were 5.1 per cent less likely to have become pregnant over the preceding year, a statistically significant reduction of over 30 per cent. The reduction in the onset of (self-reported) sexual activity is 5.5 per cent points among initial dropouts and 2.5 per cent points among initial schoolgirls, reductions of 46.6 per cent and 31.3 per cent respectively.

The overall good performance of the programme is confirmed by an analysis of its administrative costs, which are relatively low, showing also the feasibility of a programme reducing the prevalence of AIDS while promoting school attendance of young girls in such a risky context such as sub-Saharan Africa (European Report on Development, 2010).

## 4.4 Impact on Nutrition

Reducing hunger, with its consequences on children's health and cognitive capacities, and promoting food security has long been an objective of social protection policies in the developing world.

An instrument typically adopted for this aim is school feeding, the original purpose of which was to protect children against food insecurity (Devereux et al., 2010), though its impacts — as highlighted in section 4.2 — are largely affected by the main features of design. Results from the evaluation of a school feeding programme in Kenya show quite clearly that the contribution of school feeding accounted for about 30 to 90 per cent of the recommended daily allowances in terms of energy and protein for the majority of the students (about 80 per cent), while it accounted for almost the whole

intake of vitamin A in more than 20 per cent of cases (World Food Programme, 2010). In Bangladesh, the body mass index (BMI) of primary school-age participants to the school feeding programme has been estimated to be 0.62 points higher than for children enrolled in control areas (Ahmed, 2004), while the school feeding programme (*Programa de Desayunos Escolares*) in Peru has contributed to an improvement in the levels of hemoglobin for children (Cueto and Chinen, 2000).

Based on principles similar to those of school feeding, but providing households with a monthly ration of food, the 'Food for Education' programme in Bangladesh has contributed to improving weight-for-age (an indicator of short term undernourishment) for the pre-school children (6 to 60 months) of beneficiary households compared to primary school-age children not attending school; the nutritional status of non-beneficiary households with primary school-age children attending a Food for Education school was slightly worse (Ahmed and Del Ninno, 2002).

Programmes in the form of cash transfers in general also have a positive impact, given that recipient households tend to spend much of the transfer on food (Adato and Basset, 2009; ILO, 2010; DFID, 2011). The extent to which this can have an impact on child nutrition has been found to depend on key design features including the duration of the transfer, the age of recipient (0-24 months being the most critical), and the size of transfer (Yablonski and O'Donnell, 2009).

Analyzing anthropometric survey data, Aguëro et al. (2007) have shown that provision of the child support grant in South Africa during early childhood translates into an increase in height for age resulting in an average gain of 3.5 cm in adulthood. The *Samurdhi* programme in Sri Lanka, consisting of various measures including a cash transfer to poor households, has been found to impact on children's nutritional status, both in the short term (through weight-for-height) and long-term (through height-for-age) measures (Himaz, 2008). The results indicate that participation in *Samurdhi* improves the height-for-age (especially for children aged 6 to 36 months) and the weight-for-height scores of a child aged 36 to 60 months compared to health status without the grant.

The Cash-for-Work programme Chars Livelihood in Bangladesh shows an impact in terms of children's height, weight, BMI and mid-upper arm circumference. The treated children gained on average 0.7 mm in height, 210 g in weight and 1.39 mm in mid-upper arm circumference more than those children from the control group (Mascie-Taylor et al., 2010).

In Mexico, the *Programa de Apoyo Alimentario*, which provides cash and in-kind support to needy families in remote areas, has contributed to an increase in food expenditures. As a result, child beneficiaries (aged 3-4 years) grew on average 0.54 centimetres more than non-beneficiaries (World Bank, 2009b). Also in Mexico, the *Programa de Abasto Social de Leche*, has contributed to children's nutritional status by giving them access to subsidized rations of milk.

## Box 9. Programa de Abasto Social de Leche in Mexico

**Context:** The information retrieved from the 1999 National Nutrition Survey showed micronutrient deficiencies in the diet of Mexican children. Despite progress made in the nutritional status of the population, there was a high rate of anemia among children aged less than four with the highest prevalence rates in poor households (World Bank, 2009b). Moreover, about 50 per cent of children aged under two had iron deficiency problems (Villalpando et al 2006). To combat these problems, in 2002 the government reformed the *Programa de Abasto Social de Leche*.

**Implementation:** Following the 2002 reforms of the programme, the milk provided by the government at a subsidized price was enriched with iron, zinc, folic acid, and vitamins A, B2, B12, C, and D to reduce the prevalence of anemia and to improve the iron status of low income children. The beneficiary households are allowed to buy the milk at a preferential price (approximately 40 per cent of the market price) up to a maximum of 24 litres per week. The programme is targeted on poor households with children aged 5-16, as well as on the elderly, persons with disabilities, pregnant or lactating women; altogether it covers about 5.8 million children, two-thirds of whom are aged under 15 years.

**Impact:** As reported by the World Bank (2009b), the programme has been able to reduce the prevalence of anemia by up to 40 per cent. In addition, it has contributed to a reduction in the prevalence of low height-forage and increased muscle mass among beneficiary children (World Bank, 2009b). The same results are reported by two different studies using experimental data. Villalpando et al. (2006) find that the programme has favoured a reduction in the prevalence of anemia from 41 to 12 per cent in the treated group. According to Shamah et al (2007), the rate of anaemia has decreased three times more compared to the control group due to nutrition based on the enriched milk. In addition, children in the treated group have grown 1.2 cm per year more than children in the control group.

Conditional cash transfers also contribute to the nutritional status of participant children. Nutrition is, together with education and health, one of the main components of *Oportunidades* in Mexico. More specifically, the programme is designed to provide a fixed monetary transfer aimed at improving the food consumption of the household, as well as a nutritional supplement for children aged 4-24 months (extended up to 48 months in the case of malnourished children). Results confirm the effectiveness of such provisions, showing that as a consequence of the programme the probability of stunting for children has reduced (Skoufias and McClafferty, 2001), and that children in the programme were 25.3 per cent less likely to be anemic and grew around one centimetre more during the first year of the programme (Gertler, 2004). <sup>16</sup>

Due to an increase in food expenditures the other leading CCT in the region, *Bolsa Familia*, has also demonstrated a positive impact on food security for adolescents (Dest, 2009) as well as on the reduction of stunting for 6-11 month-old children (Veras Soares et al., 2007). Nonetheless, the programme has not achieved an impact on the nutritional status of children aged 12-36 months; this is probably a consequence of the lack of regular monitoring of children's growth due to constraints on the supply side (Veras Soares et al., 2007). This is contrary to the results of the evaluation of the Colombian CCT *Familias en Acción*, whose contribution to an increase in the long term nutritional status of 0-24 month-old children (measured by the height-for-age score) has been substantial (Attanasio et al., 2005), though this is also due to the efficiency of complementary health services (Veras Soares et al., 2007).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Nonetheless it is still difficult to understand to what extent these results are due to the cash component or to the food supplement. A recent work by Rosado et al. (2010), for instance, seems to show no impact on anaemia levels of children.

# 5. ANALYSIS

This paper has provided a review of the impact of social protection on children, taking into account a range of different programmes and channels of impact.

In reviewing the existing empirical evidence, this paper contributes to recent literature on child sensitive social protection and provides an overview of what kind of instrument has an impact on the different channels of child well-being and how this impact is achieved. More specific information is provided by short case studies of programmes whose characteristics seem to have maximized the impact on children.

The results of our review show that social assistance programmes that are focused on children have the greatest impact on the different dimensions of child well-being examined in this paper. Cash transfers can have a substantial impact in not only reducing the monetary poverty of children, though this depends to a great extent on both the size of the transfer and the mechanisms of intrahousehold distribution (Barrientos and DeJong, 2006), but also in compensating for the foregone income from child labour. Pure monetary transfers, which are often spent on food, health and education, also have a proven impact on child well-being in these specific dimensions. Besides complementing the household income through a monetary transfer, CCTs produce a stronger impact on children's human capital by means of the conditionalities, which are specifically established to improve access to education and health services. Participation in education is an explicit objective of school feeding programmes, though the impact also extends to nutritional status and, as a consequence, to health and cognitive capacities. Additionally, programmes that combine the objective of promoting access to services with interventions on the supply side also have a relevant impact, as in the case of education, by providing an incentive to attend school and contributing to create a better learning environment.

Outcomes arising from programmes not directly focused on children are mixed. Such interventions can result in positive spill-overs for children, such as in the case of pensions, since grandparents often live in extended households and the money they receive is invested in children, especially their education. On the other hand, they can generate unintended negative effects, as in the case of productivity-oriented programmes, including public works and microcredit, given that, as a consequence of the programme, children may be involved in work activities within the household, often substituting education.

Finally, we found that the impact of social insurance instruments is relevant as, in general, they allow families to reduce the costs of bringing up their children. At a more specific level, the evidence reported in short case studies throughout this paper has shown that a number of relevant factors concur in the realization of programme outcomes for children.

Programmes tend to work better when they are embedded in a context where the commitment to reduce child-specific vulnerabilities is high in the political agenda (European Report on Development, 2010). Child Support Grants in South Africa are a good example of this, since they show the efforts of the government to tackle the specific vulnerabilities affecting children by means of targeted social assistance programmes. The extension of the eligibility age in the case of the child grants during the financial crisis is further proof of the government commitment to protect children from poverty.

The design and implementation of the programme are significant elements too, especially in those focused on children. Indeed, some of the outcomes described in this review have depended largely on the way such interventions have been designed. For example, it is very important that an antipoverty programme must provide the transfer necessary to emerge from poverty to the targeted population, such as in the case of Child Allowances in Ukraine, where the amount of money received is dependent on the number of children within the household. When the aim of the programme is to reduce child labour, the amount transferred to beneficiary families must be established to reduce the opportunity cost of sending children to work, as in the case of *Familias en Acción* in Colombia or PETI in Brazil. Nonetheless, this is sometimes not sufficient and additional measures become necessary. The case of PETI shows that the introduction of after-school sessions increased the time spent at school, thus reducing the time available for work. Considering other goals, the bundle of incentives provided by a programme could play a central role in its performance. The Zomba transfer in Malawi, for instance, was designed to provide incentives to households to send their young girls to school, reducing the risk of early pregnancy and of contracting HIV/AIDS.

In addition, programmes incorporating a range of objectives and those linked to other social services have a good chance of maximizing their impact on children. This is notably the case of *Chile Solidario*. Although it operates mainly on the demand side, through the provision of a monetary transfer and the implementation of psychosocial support, its success in improving household conditions has been favoured by the state's ability to supply adequate supporting services to its citizens. Moreover, the achievements in terms of educational and health outcomes could be related to the approach involving the intense collaboration between beneficiary households and the social worker, who emphasizes the importance of being enrolled in school and the health system for the physical and cognitive development of their children.

As regards implementation, most of the programmes considered in this review are directly targeted on children or on households with children, often with universal coverage within the group or by adopting different targeting approaches. While in the case of universality there are major concerns over the cost of the interventions, problems of inclusion/exclusion arise when the programme is targeted. For example, transfers to poor households with children are generally targeted according to level of income, but evidence shows that – despite their positive impact on poverty – transfers have been affected by large errors of inclusion/exclusion, as in the case of allowances in Eastern European countries, or by other inefficiencies linked to the high costs of targeting, evident in the South African child grants (European Report on Development, 2010).

Delivery is another important component of programme implementation. In the case of school feeding, for instance, we observed that combining the means of providing meals (on-site, takehome), as in the case of Cambodia, has achieved multiple objectives in terms of a household's decision to send their children to school and to keep their attendance rates high. On the other hand, programmes combining measures that foster access with supply side interventions that provide structures and services to poor children, has proven relevant in supporting their participation in school, such as BRAC in Bangladesh and BRIGHT in Burkina Faso, while the milk supply programme in Mexico contributes to improving nutrition standards.

## 6. IMPACT STUDIES AND POLICY DESIGN

Most of the evidence reported in this paper shows quite clearly that when estimating the impact/effects of policy interventions we seek an answer to questions such as "does the intervention have a measurable effect on a predetermined outcome?" and "what are the sign and the magnitude of that effect?" Estimation of the impact of a (social) policy instrument is necessary to understand whether the instrument studied is an effective way of improving the living conditions of the targeted population. As illustrated in this review, this is usually done by comparing beneficiary and non-beneficiary individuals in the same situation, controlling for other potential influences (ceteris paribus). While impact analyses using methodologies such as post-hoc evaluations, simulations, and qualitative studies are able to answer the above questions scientifically, it appears that randomised experiments/trials are probably the most efficient instrument to do so.

However, while it is interesting and necessary to provide answers to the above questions, this is not sufficient for the issues facing policy designers.

Policy instruments are seldom used in isolation and children are seldom exposed to a single social programme. That means that the effect of single policy interventions may very well be influenced by their combination with other instruments. Many impact studies cannot take all the elements for a given set of policy interventions into consideration; therefore critical interactions may remain unobserved. It may well be that an intervention has little effect and thus wastes money when applied in isolation; the same intervention may, however, be critically important when combined with others. Consequently, the aim is no longer to develop single efficient policy instruments, but to design interventions as a set. In this way, the question of policy design has therefore evolved from a technocratic (almost mechanical) perspective into the art of policy making.

Such considerations are highly relevant in the case of child-friendly policies, especially in view of the multidimensional perspective of child well-being clearly stated by the CRC. From the point of view of social policy design, the CRC can be interpreted as the desire to avoid the pre-determination of lifeoutcomes for children by the social context in which they are born or grow up. Although this is a worthy aim in designing policies that will achieve multi-dimensional objectives, optimal combinations should be employed. But the CRC can also be interpreted in a narrower, more incremental way as regards policy design, by formulating policy interventions that improve the child's situation at certain points in life. Health/nutrition interventions around pregnancy and early childhood may considerably improve the survival chances of children (or decrease under-five mortality rates). This does not necessarily imply that the intervention will help close the gap between the conditions of poor children compared to others in the same society. This brings us to the second important factor in designing policy for children according to age. Childhood starts at birth (or at pregnancy) and ends at age 18 (or even later when full biological and developmental aspects are considered). The effects of policy interventions at any given point during childhood may fade or be reinforced at a later age as they depend critically on the alignment of other policy interventions or combinations of social policies after the early years. This alignment of policy interventions is what scholars refer to as the "transformative character of social (protection) policy". It concentrates attention on the fact that single instruments seldom suffice to realise the broader intentions of the CRC.

This being said, impact studies as they are discussed in this paper are unavoidably almost always limited to narrower, more technocratic analyses and focus on the effects of single interventions judged over a limited time period. It is nonetheless important to note that such analyses and studies are necessary as they provide key information and important indications. Indeed, if it is almost impossible to replicate a social protection system implemented within a specific context, we can, however, extract useful lessons from individual experiences or instruments. This paper, collecting evidence on the most relevant effects of social protection instruments on children, has demonstrated how some relevant lessons do emerge more clearly from impact evaluation analyses.

Taking stock of such considerations, we believe that it is fundamental, in guiding future work on child-sensitive social protection to specify which *functions*, and in particular which features, of these *instruments* enhance their child-friendliness. The following definitions of functions and instruments are proposed:

- i) Child-sensitive social protection provides income support in cash and guarantees access to basic services for free or below market prices (in kind) and has two main *functions*:
  - to compensate for the effects of shortcomings affecting children at the level of the household or community/society, ensuring access to safety nets, an enabling environment and essential services in health, nutrition, education, early child development, safe water and sanitation;
  - to mitigate the immediate and to compensate for the longer-term effects of shocks due to unemployment, illness and disability of the child or the caregivers, or due to the death of a caregiver, in order to avoid lasting damage such as stunting, dropping out of school, etc.
- ii) Child-sensitive social protection instruments should:
  - incentivise and/or support caregivers to invest in children's health and education regardless of their gender, age or rank-order in the household;
  - incentivise and/or support caregivers to avoid choices and coping strategies that are harmful
    to children such as limiting food intake, limiting access to school and learning, limiting
    access to health care, limiting parenting or promoting child labour, begging, prostitution or
    other forms of abuse;
  - incentivise and/or support caregivers to provide adequate protection from all forms of violence;
  - substitute for the absence of caregivers in providing food (including safe water), shelter, health services, education, protection and other essential services for children.

#### **REFERENCES**

- Adato, M. and Bassett, L. (2009), 'Social Protection to Support Vulnerable Children and Families: The Potential of Cash Transfers to Promote Education, Health and Nutrition'. *AIDS Care 21* (1): 60-75.
- Aguëro, J., Carter, M. and I. Woolard (2007), The Impact of Unconditional Cash Transfers on Nutrition: the South African Child Support Grant. *Working Paper 39*. Brasilia: International Poverty Research Centre.
- Ahmed, A. (2004), Impact of Feeding Children in School: Evidence from Bangladesh. Washington DC, IFPRI.
- Ahmed, A. and Del Ninno, C. (2002), The Food for Education Program in Bangladesh: an evaluation of its impact on educational attainment and food security. *FCND Discussion Paper*, no. 138. Washington DC, IFPRI.
- Amarante, V., Arim, R. and Vigorito, A. (2005), Metodología para la Selección de Participantes en el Plan de Emergencia Social. Convenio MIDES-UDELAR.
- Armecin, G., Behrman, J., Duazo, P., Ghuman, S., Gultiano, S., King, E. and Lee, N. (2006), Early Childhood Development Programs and Children's Development: Evidence from the Philippines, Policy Research Working Paper N. 3922. Washington DC, World Bank.
- Asian Development Bank (ADB) (2010), Completion Report Project Number 32143. Kyrgyz Republic: Community-Based Early Childhood Development Project. Mandaluyong City, Asian Development Bank.
- Asian Development Bank (ADB) (2001), *Social Protection in Asia and the Pacific.* Manila, Asian Development Bank.
- Attanasio, O., Fitzsimons, E., Gomez, A., Gutiérrez, A., Meghir, C. and Mesnard, A. (2010), *Children's Schooling and Work in the Presence of a Conditional Cash Transfer Program in Rural Colombia*. University of Chicago Press.
- Attanasio, O., Gómez, L.C., Heredia, P., Vera-Hernández, M., (2005), *The Short-term Impact of a Conditional Cash Subsidy on Child Health and Nutrition in Colombia*. Centre for the Evaluation of Development Policies.
- Baird, S., Chirwa, E., McIntosh, C. and Özler, B. (2009), The Short-term Impacts of a Schooling Conditional Cash Transfer Program on the Sexual Behavior of Young Women. *Health Economics*, 19: 55–68.
- Barrientos, A. and DeJong, J. (2006), Child Poverty and Cash Transfers, *CHIP Report N. 4*. Child Poverty Research and Policy Centre.
- Barrientos, A. and Nino-Zarazua, M. (2011), Financing Social Protection for Children in Crisis Contexts. *Development Policy Review*, 29(5): 603-620.
- Behrman, J., Yingmei, C. and Petra, T. (2004), Evaluating Preschool Programs When Length of Exposure to the Program Varies: A nonparametric approach. *Review of Economics and Statistics*, Vol. 86: 108-132.
- Blank, L., Devereux, S. and Handa, S. (2010), The Case for Social Protection for Children, in Handa, S., Devereux, S. and Webb, D. (Eds.) *Social Protection for African children*. Abingdon, Routledge.
- Bourguignon, F., Ferreira, F.H.G. and Leite, P. G. (2003), Conditional Cash Transfers, Schooling, and Child Labor: Micro-simulating Brazil's *Bolsa Escola* program. *World Bank Economic Review*, 17 (2): 229-254.

- BRAC (Bangladesh Rural Advancement Committee) (2009), "BRAC Annual Report 2009". Available at www.brac.net/oldsite/useruploads/files/brac-ar-2009.pdf.
- Brauw, A. and J. Hoddinott (2008), "Must Conditional Cash Transfer Programs Be Conditioned to Be Effective?

  The Impact of Conditioning Transfers on School Enrollment in Mexico". *IFPRI Discussion Paper 00757*.

  Washington DC, IFPRI.
- Britto, T. (2007), *The Challenges of El Salvador's Conditional Cash Transfer Programme, Red Solidaria*. UNDP International Poverty Centre.
- Bundy, D., Burbano, C., Grosh, M., Gelli, A., Jukes, M. and Drake, L. (2009), *Rethinking School Feeding: Social safety nets, child development and the education sector.* Washington DC, World Bank.
- Buttenheim, A., Alderman, H. and Friedman, J. (2011), "Impact Evaluation of School Feeding Programs in LAO PDR, World Bank Policy Research Working Paper N. 5518. Washington DC, World Bank.
- Cameron, L.A. (2002), Did Social Safety Net Scholarships Reduce Drop-out Rates During the Indonesian Economic Crisis? *World Bank Policy Research Working Paper Series N. 2800.* Washington DC, World Bank.
- CEDEPLAR Centro de Desenvolvimento e Planejamento Regional (2007), "Primeiros Resultados da Análise de Linha de Base da Pesquisa de Impacto do Programa Bolsa Família". Brasília, SAGI/MDS.
- Chaboux, C. (2006), "Meeting EFA: Bangladesh Rural Advancement Committee (BRAC) Primary Schools". Washington DC, Academy for Education Development.
- Chandler, A.M., Walker, S., Connolly, K. and Grantham-McGregor, S. (1995), "School Breakfast Improves Verbal Fluency in Undernourished Jamaican Children". *Journal of Nutrition* 125 (4):894-900.
- Chaudhury, N. and Parajuli, D. (2006), "Conditional Cash Transfers and Female Schooling: The impact of the female school stipend program on public school enrollments in Punjab, Pakistan". *Impact Evaluation Series, no. 9*, Washington DC, World Bank.
- Cueto, S. and Chinen, M. (2000), "Impacto educativo de un programa de desayunos escolares en escuelas rurales del Perú". Lima: GRADE.
- Cuong, N.V. (2003), "Assessing the Impact of Poverty Reduction Programs in Vietnam", Available at <a href="http://EconPapers.repec.org/RePEc:pra:mprapa:25627">http://EconPapers.repec.org/RePEc:pra:mprapa:25627</a>
- Dercon, S. (2011), Social Protection, Efficiency and Growth, CSAE Working Paper WPS/2011- 17, Oxford.
- Dest, M. F. (2009), "The Impact of Brazil's *Bolsa Familia* Program on Food Security in Santo Antônio de Jesus, Bahia". *ISP Collection*, Paper 756. Available at: <a href="http://digitalcollections.sit.edu/isp">http://digitalcollections.sit.edu/isp</a> collection/756
- Devereux, S. (2001), "Social Pensions in Namibia and South Africa", IDS Working Paper 379. Brighton, IDS.
- Devereux, S. and Macauslan, I. (2006), "Review of Social Protection Instruments in Malawi", Report for DFID. Brighton, IDS.
- Devereux, S., Sabates-Wheeler, R., Tefera, M. and Taye, H. (2006), "PSNP Ethiopia's Productive Safety Net Programme (PSNP): Trends in PSNP Transfers within Targeted Households". Brighton, IDS.
- Devereux, S., Sabates-Wheeler, R. and Pascual Martínez, A. (2010), "Home-Grown School Feeding and Social Protection", *PCD Working Paper*. London, Partnership for Child Development.

- DFID (2011), "Cash Transfers Evidence Paper", Policy Division, Department for International Development, London. Available at:
  - http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/http://www.dfid.gov.uk/Documents/publications1/cash-transfers-evidence-paper.pdf
- Dieden, S. and Gustafsson, B. (2003), "Child Poverty in South Africa: An assessment based on microdata for 1995", *International Journal of Social Welfare*, 12(4): 326-338.
- Duryea, S. and Morrison, A. (2004), "The Effect of Conditional Transfers on School Performance and Child Labor: Evidence from an ex-post impact evaluation in Costa Rica", *RES Working Paper* 4359. Inter-American Development Bank, Research Department.
- Edmonds, E. V., and Schady, N. (2008), "Poverty Alleviation and Child Labor", *Policy Research Working Paper* 4702. Washington DC, World Bank.
- European Report on Development (2010), "Social Protection for Inclusive Development A new Perspective in EU Cooperation with Africa". Florence, Robert Schuman Centre for Advanced Studies, European University Institute.
- Fajth, G. (2009), "Joint Statement on Child Sensitive Social Protection", presentation at Social Protection Floor Initiative, Turin October, 2009.
- Fiszbein, A. and Schady, N. (2009), "Conditional Cash Transfers: Reducing present and future poverty, *Policy Research Report*. Washington DC, World Bank.
- Galasso, E. (2006), "With their Effort and One Opportunity: Alleviating extreme poverty in Chile", Development Research Group. Washington DC, World Bank.
- German Technical Cooperation (GTZ) (2007), "Final Evaluation Report: Kalomo Social Cash Transfer Scheme". Lusaka.
- Gertler, P. (2004), "Do Conditional Cash Transfers Improve Child Health? Evidence from PROGRESA's Control Randomized Experiment", *American Economic Review*, 94(2): 336-341.
- Glewwe, P., Kremer, M. and Moulin, S. (2007), "Many Children Left Behind? Textbooks and Test Scores in Kenya", *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, 1(1), pp. 112-135.
- Gragnolati, M., Shekar, M., Das Gupta, M., Bredenkamp, C., and Lee, Y.K. (2005), "India's Undernourished Children: A call for reform and action", *HNP Discussion Paper*. Washington DC, World Bank.
- Hagen-Zanker, J., McCord, A. and Holms, R. (2011), "The Impact of Employment Guarantee Schemes and Cash Transfers on the Poor", *ODI Systematic Review*. London, Overseas Development Institute.
- Hazarika, G., and Sarangi, S. (2005), "Household Access to Microcredit and Child Work in Rural Malawi", IZA Discussion Papers 1567. Bonn, Institute for the Study of Labor (IZA).
- Himaz, M. (2008), "Welfare Grants and Their Impact on Child Health: The case of Sri Lanka", World Development, 36(10): 1843-1857.
- Hoddinott, J., Gilligan D.O. and Taffesse, A.S. (2009), "The Impact of Ethiopia's Productive Safety Net Program on Schooling and Child Labour", *Journal of Development Studies* 45(10): 1684-1706.

- Hofmann, S., Heslop, M., Clacherty, G. and Kessy, F. (2008), "Salt, Soap and Shoes for School: The impact of pensions on the lives of older people and grandchildren in the KwaWazee project in Tanzania's Kagera region". HelpAge International and Swiss Agency for Development.
- Hossain, A., Nath, S., and Chowdhury, A. (2002), "The Socioeconomic Impact of BRAC Schools", BRAC Research and Evaluation Division. Dhaka, BRAC Centre.
- Huerta, M. C. (2006), "Child Health in Rural Mexico: Has *Progresa* reduced children's morbidity risks?, *Social Policy and Administration*, 40(6): 652-677.
- ILO (2010), "Effects of Non-Contributory Social Transfers in Developing Countries: A compendium", ILO Working Paper.
- ILO (2011), ILO Social Security Inquiry Database, available at: http://www.ilo.org/dyn/ilossi/ssimain.home.
- IMF (2007), "Welfare Improvement Strategy of Uzbekistan. Full Strategy Paper for 2008-2010", IMF Country Report No. 08/34. Tashkent.
- Institute for Demography and Social Studies of the National Academy of Science of Ukraine (IDSSNASU) and UNICEF (2010), "Child Poverty and Disparities in Ukraine". Kiev, Ukrainian Centre for Social Reforms.
- Islam, A. and Choe, C. (2009), "Child Labour and Schooling Responses to Access to Microcredit in Rural Bangladesh", MPRA Paper No. 16842.
- Johar, M. (2007), "The Impact of the Indonesian Health Card Program: A matching estimator approach", *School of Economics, Discussion Papers 2007-30*. Sydney, University of New South Wales.
- Jones, N. (2009), "Promoting Synergies between Child Protection and Social Protection: West and Central Africa", *Regional Thematic Report 5 Study*. Dakar, UNICEF WCARO and Overseas Development Insitute.
- Jones, N. and Holmes, R. (2010), "Tackling Child Vulnerabilities through Social Protection: Lessons from West and Central Africa", *ODI Background Note*. London, Overseas Development Institute.
- Jowett, M. (2001), "Voluntary Health Insurance in Vietnam: An evaluation", *Health and Population Perspectives and Issues*, 24(1): 29-44.
- Kamerman, S.B. and Gabel, S. (2006), "Social Protection for Children and their Families: New risks and new responses", paper presented at the conference "Social Policy in a Globalizing World: Developing a North-South Dialogue", Florence, September 6-8, 2007. University of Florence.
- Kazianga, H., de Walque, D. and Alderman, H. (2009), "Educational and Health Impacts of Two School Feeding Schemes: Evidence from a randomized trial in rural Burkina Faso", World Bank Policy Research Working Paper N. 4976. Washington DC, World Bank.
- Lagarde, M., Haines, A. and Palmer, N. (2007), "Conditional Cash Transfers for Improving Uptake of Health Interventions in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: A systematic review", *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 298(16), October 2007.
- Levine, S., Van Der Berg, S. and Yu, D. (2009), "Measuring the Impact of Social Cash Transfers on Poverty and Inequality in Namibia", *Stellenbosch Economic Working Papers*: 25/09.
- Levy, D. and Ohls, J. (2007), *Evaluation of PATH Program: Final Report*. Princeton, Mathematica Policy Research.

- Levy, D., Sloan, M., Linden, M. and Harounan, K. (2009), *Impact Evaluation of Burkina Faso's BRIGHT Program*. Princeton, Mathematica Policy Research.
- Maluccio, J. and Flores, R. (2005), "Impact Evaluation of a Conditional Cash Transfer Program: The Nicaraguan Red de Protección Social", *Research Report 141*. Washington DC, International Food Policy Research Institute.
- Martorano, B. and Sanfilippo, M. (2012), "Innovative Features in Conditional Cash Transfers: An impact evaluation of Chile Solidario on households and children", *UNICEF Innocenti Working Paper*. 2012-03. Florence, UNICEF Innocenti Research Centre.
- Mascie-Taylor, C., Marks, M., Goto, R., and Islam, R. (2010), "Impact of a Cash-for-Work Programme on Food Consumption and Nutrition among Women and Children facing Good Insecurity in Rural Bangladesh", *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 88: 854-860.
- Miller, C., Tsoka, M. and Reichert, K. (2008), "External Evaluation of the Mchinji Social Cash Transfer Pilot", Report prepared for the Government of Malawi. USAID and UNICEF Malawi.
- Ministerio de Educación, (1998), "Reform in Progress: Quality education for all", Santiago, Republica de Chile, Ministerio de Educación.
- Ministerio de Educación, (2007), "Evaluación de Programas de Educación Parvularia en Chile: Resultados y Desafíos". Santiago, Republica de Chile, Ministerio de Educación. Available at: <a href="http://educacion.ucv.cl/prontus">http://educacion.ucv.cl/prontus formacion/site/artic/20070725/asocfile/ASOCFILE120070725113025.pdf</a>
- Montgomery, H. (2005), "Meeting the Double Bottom Line: The impact of Khushhali bank's microfinance program in Pakistan", *Asian Development Bank Institute Policy Paper N.8*. Manila, ADB.
- Nath, S. R., Sylva, K. and Grimes, J. (1999), "Raising Basic Education Levels in Rural Bangladesh: The impact of a non-formal education programme", *International Review of Education*, 45(1): 5-26.
- Nielsen, N.S., Godden, K., Leguene, P., Rugenberg, D. and Rudiger, J. (2010), "WFP Cambodia School Feeding 2000-2010: A mixed method impact evaluation", World Food Programme Report November 2010.

  Available at, <a href="http://documents.wfp.org/stellent/groups/public/documents/reports/wfp230142.pdf">http://documents.wfp.org/stellent/groups/public/documents/reports/wfp230142.pdf</a>
- Pérez-Calle, F. (2007), Evaluación Ejecutiva del Programa Escuela Ciudad Escuela. Bogotá: FEDESARROLLO.
- Porter, C., Dornan, P. (2010), "Social Protection and Children: A synthesis of evidence from young lives longitudinal research in Ethiopia, India and Peru". Available at: http://www.younglives.org.uk/our-publications/policy-papers/social-protection-and-children
- Ravallion, M. and Wodon, Q. (2000), "Does Child Labour Displace Schooling? Evidence on Behavioural Responses to an Enrollment Subsidy", *Economic Journal, Royal Economic Society*, 110 (462): 158-75.
- Reimers, F., DeShano da Silva, C. and Trevino, E. (2006), "Where is the 'Education' in Conditional Cash Transfers in Education?" UNESCO Institute for Statistics Working Paper N. 4. UNESCO, Montreal.
- Rivera Castiñeira, B., Currais Nunes, L. and Rungo, P. (2009), Impacto de los programas de transferencia condicionada de renta sobre el estado de salud: el programa Bolsa Familia de Brasil, Revista Española de Salud Pública; 83: 85-97. Available at: <a href="http://www.scielosp.org/scielo.php?script=sci">http://www.scielosp.org/scielo.php?script=sci</a> arttext&pid=S1135-57272009000100007&Ing=es&nrm=iso&tIng=es

- Roetten, K. and Sabates-Wheeler, R. (2011), A Child Sensitive Approach to Social Protection: Serving practical and strategic needs, paper presented at the conference "Social Protection for Social Justice". London, Institute of Development Studies, 13-15 April 2011.
- Rojas, A.G. and Aguilar, W.M. (2008), Programa Familias en Acción: Impactos en capital humano y Evaluación beneficio-costo del Programa. Bogota, Departamento Nacional de Planeación Dirección de Evaluación de Políticas Públicas.
- Rosado, J.L., González, K.L., Caamaño, M., García, O.P., Preciado, R. and Odio, M. (2010), "Efficacy of Different Strategies to Treat Anemia in Children: A randomized clinical trial, *Nutrition Journal*, 2010; 9: 40.
- Sabates-Wheeler, R. and Devereux, S. (2008), "Transformative Social Protection: The currency of social justice", in A. Barrientos and D. Hulme (Eds), Social Protection for the Poor and Poorest: Concepts, policies and politics. London, Palgrave.
- Sabates-Wheeler, R., Devereux, S. and Hodges, A. (2009), "Taking the Long View: What does a child focus add to social protection?" *IDS Bulletin*, 40(1): 109-119.
- Samson, M., Heinrich, C., Regalia, F., Williams, M., Kaniki, S., Muzondo, T., MacQuene, K. and van Niekerk, I. (2010), "Impacts of South Africa's Child Support Grant", in S. Handa, S. Devereux and D. Webb (Eds) *Social Protection for Africa's Children*. Abingdon, Routledge.
- Samson, M., Lee, U., Ndlebe, A., MacQuene, K., van Niekerk, I., Ghandhi, V., Harigaya, T. and C. Abrahams (2004), "The Social and Economic Impact of South Africa's Social Security System", *EPRI Research Paper* 37. Cape Town, EPRI.
- Santana, M.I. (2008), "An Evaluation of The Impact of South Africa's Child Support Grant on School Attendance". Available at,
- http://www.depeco.econo.unlp.edu.ar/cedlas/ien/pdfs/meeting2008/papers/santana.pdf
- Save the Children (2007), "Children and Social Protection: Towards a package that works", *Briefing*, Save the Children UK. Available at: <a href="http://www.savethechildren.org.uk/resources/online-library/children-and-social-protection-towards-package-works">http://www.savethechildren.org.uk/resources/online-library/children-and-social-protection-towards-package-works</a>
- SEDESOL (2010), "Oportunidades, a program of results". Available at:

  <a href="http://www.oportunidads.gob.mex/Portal/work/sites/Web/resources/ArchivoContent/623/Oportunidades,%20a%20program%20of%20results%202010.pdf">http://www.oportunidads.gob.mex/Portal/work/sites/Web/resources/ArchivoContent/623/Oportunidades,%20a%20program%20of%20results%202010.pdf</a>
- SEDLAC (CEDLAS and The World Bank) (2010), Socio-Economic Database for Latin America and the Caribbean. Available at: <a href="http://sedlac.econo.unlp.edu.ar/eng/statistics.php">http://sedlac.econo.unlp.edu.ar/eng/statistics.php</a>
- Skoufias, E. and McClafferty, B. (2001), "Is PROGRESA Working? Summary of the Results of an Evaluation by IFPRI", *Discussion Paper No 118*. Washington DC, IFPRI.
- Shamah, T., Villalpando, S., Mundo, V., Cuevas L. and Rivera, J. (2007), "Lecciones aprendidas en la evaluacion de liconsa", En *XII Congreso de Inves-tigación en Salud Pública Edición Especial*, 49: 250–54.
- Somanathan, A. (2008), "The Impact of Price Subsidies on Child Health Care Use: Evaluation of the Indonesian Health Card", *Policy Research Working Paper N. 4622I.* Washington DC, World Bank.
- Sparrow, R.A. (2006), *Health, Education and Economic Crisis: Protecting the Poor in Indonesia*. Amsterdam, Rozenberg Publishers.

- Sukontamarn, P. (2006), "The Entry of NGO Schools and Girls' Educational Outcomes in Bangladesh", Working Paper. University of Adelaide.
- Tan, J.-P., Lane, J. and Lassibille, G. (1999), "Student outcomes in Philippine elementary schools: An evaluation of four experiments", World Bank Economic Review, 13 (3): 493–508.
- UNICEF (2007), "The Impact of Social Cash Transfers on Children Affected by HIV and AIDS: Evidence from Zambia, Malawi and South Africa". Nairobi, UNICEF East and Southern Africa Regional Office.
- UNICEF (2008a), "Child Poverty in Armenia". Yerevan, UNICEF Armenia.
- UNICEF (2008b), "Child Poverty in Bosnia and Herzegovina: Analysis of the 2007 Household Budget Survey", Report prepared by the University of York, Social Policy Research Unit for UNICEF.
- UNICEF (2011a), "Social Protection Strategic Framework Integrated Social Protection Systems: Enhancing equity for children". New York, UNICEF.
- UNICEF (2011b), "Progress on Key Indicators. Consolidated Results Report. Programme Cycle: 2006-2010". Minsk, UNICEF Belarus.
- UNICEF et al. (2009), "Joint Statement on Advancing Child-Sensitive Social Protection". Available at <a href="http://www.unicef.org/aids/files/CSSP">http://www.unicef.org/aids/files/CSSP</a> joint statement 10.16.09.pdf
- UNICEF Georgia (2010), "How do Georgian Children and their Families Cope with the Impact of the Financial Crisis? Report on the Georgia welfare monitoring survey 2009". Tbilisi, UNICEF Georgia.
- Uppal, V. (2009), "Is NREGS a Safety Net for Children?" *Young Lives Student Paper*, Young Lives, Department of International Development, University of Oxford.
- Veras Soares, F. and Teixeira, C. (2010), "Impact Evaluation of the Expansion of the Food Subsidy Programme in Mozambique", *Research Brief N. 17*. Brasilia, International Policy Centre for Inclusive Growth.
- Veras Soares, F., Perez Ribas, R. and Hirata, G.I. (2008), Los Logros y las Carencias de las Transferencias de Efectivo Condicionadass: Evaluación del Impacto del Programa Tekoporã del Paraguay, *Publications Spanish 3*. Brasilia, International Policy Centre for Inclusive Growth.
- Veras Soares, F., Perez Ribas, R. and Guerreiro Osório, R. (2007), Evaluating the Impact of Brazil's Bolsa Família: Cash Transfer Programmes in Comparative Perspective, International Poverty Centre.
- Villalpando, S., Shamah, T., Rivera, J., Lara Y. and Monterrubio, E. (2006), "Fortifying milk with ferrous Gluconate and zinc oxide in a public nutrition program reduced the prevalence of anemia in toddlers", *Journal of Nutrition*, 136: 2633-2637.
- Williams, M. J. (2007), "The Social and Economic Impacts of South Africa's Child Support Grant", *Economic Policy Research Institute Working Paper 40*. Cape Town, EPRI.
- Woldehanna, T. (2009), "Productive Safety Net Programme and Children's Time Use between Work and Schooling in Ethiopia", *Young Lives Working Paper 40*. Oxford, Department of International Development, University of Oxford.
- Woolard, I. (2003), Social Assistance Grants: Impact of government programmes using administrative data sets. Project 6.2 of the 10 year review research programme. Available at: http://www.sarpn.org/documents/d0000946/P1041-Woolard 10year June2003.pdf

- Woolard, I., Harttgen, K. and Klasen, S. (2010), "The Evolution and Impact of Social Security in South Africa", Background paper to the European Report on Development 2010. Florence, European University Institute.
- World Bank (2001), "Brazil: Eradicating Child Labor in Brazil", Report N. 21858-BR. Washington DC, World Bank.
- World Bank (2009a), "Bulgaria: Social Assistance Programs: Cost, Coverage, Targeting and Poverty Impact", Research Report, Human Development Sector, Unit Europe and Central Asia Region, Washington DC, World Bank.
- World Bank (2009b), Quality of Public Expenditure, Note n. 8, at: http://siteresources.worldbank.org/EXTLACREGTOPPUBSECGOV/Resources/NOTE8 English.pdf
- World Bank (2010), "Azerbaijan Living Conditions Assessment Report", Human Development Sector, Unit Europe and Central Asia Region, *Report N. 52801-AZ*. Washington DC, World Bank.
- World Food Programme (2010), "Impact Evaluation of WFP School Feeding Programmes in Kenya (1998-2008): A mixed methods approach". Rome, World Food Programme.
- World Bank (2011), World Development Indicators Online (WDI) database. Available at: http://data.worldbank.org/data-catalog/world-development-indicators
- Yablonski, J., and O'Donnell., M. (2009), Lasting Benefits: The role of cash transfers in tackling child mortality. London, Save the Children UK.
- Yap, Y., Sedlacek, G. and Orazem, P. (2002), "Limiting Child Labor Through Behavior-based Income Transfers: An experimental evaluation of the PETI program in rural Brazil". *IDB Discussion Paper*. Inter-American Development Bank.
- Yates, R., Chandan, U.C. and Ken, P.L.A. (2010), "Child-sensistive Social Protection: A new approach to programming for children affected by HIV and AIDS". *Vulnerable Children and Youth Studies*, 5(3): 208-216.